FILED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II 2015 JUN 25 PM 3: 54

STATE OF WASHINGTON
BY DEPUTY

91857-1

ORIGINAL

Court of Appeals Div II No. 45834-9-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FAIRUZA STEVENSON,

Appellant v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, NURSING CARE QUALITY ASSURANCE COMMISSION,

Respondent

APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Robert D. Mitchelson, WSBA # 4595 Attorney at Law PO Box 87096 Vancouver, WA 98687-0096 (360) 260-0925 Fax (360) 944-1947 Email: Rmitchelson@msn.com

1. Identity of Petitioner

Fairuza Stevenson

II. Citation to Court of Appeals Decision

The Court of Appeals Decision from which Ms. Stevenson seeks review was filed in the Court of Appeals on May 27, 2015 and there are no further orders concerning a Motion for Reconsideration. A copy of the Decision and the Trial Court Memorandum Opinion are attached in Appendix 'A'.

III. Issues Presented for Review

- 1. Did the COA err in concluding that the Commission's Findings were supported by substantial evidence that Ms. Stevenson breached the relevant standard of conduct and acted outside her scope of practice?
- 2. Did the Commission err in concluding Ms. Stevenson violated the UDA?
- 3. Did the Commission err in concluding that because Ms.
 Stevenson was incorporated the legal doctrines of Collateral
 Estoppel and / or Res Judicata do not apply to her settlement

with DSHS and therefore did not bar DOH from proceeding with a separate proceeding on identical facts with identical parties?

IV. Statement of the Case

1. Facts

a. Preclusion

Ms. Stevenson is a registered nurse with a four-year degree in nursing and some advanced nursing education beyond her four-year degree. (ROP 488 L 13 -18)

She operates what is known in Washington as an Adult Family Home which is incorporated under the corporate name, Stevenson Group Inc. But Ms. Stevenson is the only principal that was involved in a settlement agreement with DSHS as there were no other individuals involved in negotiating the settlement and Correction Plan with DSHS. Ms. Stevenson was personally charged with committing acts as a provider that

DSHS alleged were personal deficiencies and required her to personally submit a Plan of Correction. (ROP 148 – 151).

The settlement agreement with DSHS, contrary to the COA's Finding, did not designate the settlement being with Stevenson Group Inc., but rather required Ms. Stevenson as a provider to personally pay a fine and complete a Correction Plan. Therefore Ms. Stevenson should have available to her the preclusion doctrines of Collateral Estoppel and Res Judicata, particularly Res Judicata.

b. Burden of Proof and Standard of Care

The COA holding that the administrative board whose members possess training and expertise significantly less than the professional being subject to potential discipline sets a standard which diminishes the burden of proof by the administrative agency in question absent testimony that the professional being disciplined conducted themselves in a manner that fell below the standard of care for that

professional. The concept that nurses, doctors, lawyers, CPAs or other professionals subject to a disciplinary proceeding can be exposed to having a disciplinary board (which in this case could have been comprised solely of lay persons) should be rejected by this Court.

c. Weight Given to Various Witnesses' Testimony

The argument that the fact finder is best suited to pass on the credibility and demeanor of the witnesses during a hearing, while correct under the law, was incorrectly applied by the COA in this case in that there was no opportunity for the Board to observe the typical types of conduct a fact finder usually has the opportunity to observe in a trial setting. Ms. Stevenson's experts all testified live in front of the Board and had impeccable credentials, the State's witness testified by phone and the Board had no opportunity to observe her demeanor, mannerisms, etc. It should be noted Dr. Hu, the State's only witness, prescribed a dose of Enoxaparin for 30 days on

discharge. However while hospitalized only 2 daily shots were given. (ROP 061 and 084).

The conclusion that withholding delivery of the anti-coagulant placed patient A at greater risk of harm to stroke than going blind through its administration is not supported by the record in light of the testimony that the only witness for the State was inexperienced (3 plus years) (ROP 326) and failed to even read the patient's chart (ROP 338).

The record supports the medical conclusion by Ms. Stevenson that giving of the anti-coagulant would pose a greater risk of harm to patient A than withholding it was correct and was supported by highly confident professionals who testified on her behalf.

V. Argument

a. Why Review Should be Accepted

Considerations favoring acceptance of review are that the issue of the burden of proof necessary to establish whether or not the standard of care has been breached by a health care professional affects a substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court, not the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals went outside the record briefly by noting at Footnote 4 the Commission's make up allows for two advanced registered nurse practitioners, seven registered nurses, three licensed practical nurses and three members of the public.

The Appellant certainly does not question that is the statutory language presently in place. The Appellant's position is that only one of the Board Members in this case had at least the equivalent level of training and experience as the Appellant.

This raises the question of whether someone such as a four-year nursing graduate with some Masters qualifications should not be judged by a panel of their peers, the same argument might be made by an MD who could arguably be confronted by a panel that had lay people with little or no medical knowledge. This is not to say that medical knowledge could not be provided by an expert who

testified as to a strong working knowledge of patient's care when substandard care is alleged. But in Ms. Stevenson's case we note that was not true by reviewing the Exhibits submitted by the State where it appears Dr. Hu provided only minimal care to this patient during her nine-day hospitalization. This of course should be taken into consideration with the fact that Dr. Hu had never taken time to review the patient's chart for a very recent prior admission. These facts are relevant when looking at the State's exhibits.

In fact, Dr. Hu only saw Patient A three times during her nine-day stay being November 24, 2007 (ROP 060), November 18th (ROP 080) and November 17th (ROP 084).

Interestingly Ms. Stevenson was accused of placing Patient A at great risk for harm by withholding the medication for 7 days. The patient had a shot at the hospital on November 24th which is a Saturday evening, the date of her discharge (ROP 061). While at the hospital She went without a shot between November 17th and November 23rd, seven full days, meaning she was only given the

drug in question on the date she entered the hospital on November 16, 2007 (ROP 084) and November 24, 2007 (ROP 061).

The discharge summary is factually important as well and was apparently overlooked or at least ignored by the Board. It is unclear who wrote the Discharge Summary (ROP 111, 112, 113) but it is clear from comments on ROP 112 that lab studies were apparently done including an ultrasound which showed no deep vein thrombosis as a noted problem.

It was also clear to the discharge physician that Patient A was non-mobile for several months prior to her admission based on a conversation with a case worker or notes from a case worker on November 23, 2007 (ROP 113).

Therefore the conclusion that withholding what Ms. Stevenson felt was a dangerous dosage for seven days while she was attempting to verify what the primary care physician's orders would be, placed patient A in no greater danger than she was placed in during her hospital stay.

Another question concerning the credibility of witnesses is that Dr. Hu, it must be inferred, did not review Patient A's chart at all during her hospital stay up until the time there was a discharge summary written or more likely until she was provided with documents to review in preparation for hearing.

VI. Conclusion

The primary defect in the COA's decision is the failure to impose upon the Board at least the duty to present competent expert evidence through an opinion that the standard of care was breached by Ms. Stevenson under these complicated circumstances. The record bears out the fact that Ms. Stevenson made a normal choice to do everything possible to contact the primary care physician who simply ignored her for several days. Even Dr. Hu testified they normally defer to the primary care physician concerning questions of care after discharge. (ROP 341 L 11-15).

Dr. Hu's instruction that huge doses of Enoxaparin over 30 days was contra indicated by her other's doctor's use of the drug while Patient A was hospitalized and therefore a holding by the Supreme Court that the burden of proof in this case requires more substantial evidence by at least an opinion of conduct that fell below the standard of care should be adopted.

Probably Ms. Stevenson should be granted a new hearing. The Board should be comprised of no less than three RN's with equivalent education or the Supreme Court should simply order reversal of the Order of COA based on inadequate proof of substandard care in violation of nursing standards. The Supreme Court should also reverse the COA's Order and Order the fines be rescinded and Ms. Stevenson's derogatory remarks on her nursing registry be removed.

The conclusion that Res Judicata should not apply because Ms. Stevenson operated in a corporate capacity is also without merit.

The finding was that she was personally placed a patient at undue risk. The entry into the registry of her conduct is personal not a corporate notation.