JUL 2 9 2015

NO. 91857-1

Ronald R. Carpenter

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FAIRUZA STEVENSON,

Petitioner,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND NURSING CARE QUALITY ASSURANCE COMMISSION,

Respondent.

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

DANIEL R. BAKER Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 43034 Office of the Attorney General PO Box 40100 Olympia WA 98504-0100 (360) 586-2837

# **

#### I. INTRODUCTION

It is a fundamental tenet of medical practice that nurses must follow physicians' orders. If a nurse has concerns about those orders, the nurse must address and resolve those concerns with a physician. Petitioner Fairuza Stevenson, a registered nurse, was disciplined by the Nursing Care Quality Assurance Commission (Commission) for failing to abide by this fundamental tenet. Despite her concerns about a drug that had been prescribed for a patient under her care, she failed to contact a physician to resolve her concerns. Instead, Ms. Stevenson waited eight days to administer the prescribed medication.

The Court of Appeals correctly rejected each argument Ms. Stevenson now raises in her Petition For Discretionary Review, holding that the Commission's findings were supported by substantial evidence, that the Commission properly interpreted and applied the Uniform Disciplinary Act (UDA), and that the Commission's action was not precluded by a prior action taken by the Department of Social and Health Services (DSHS) against Ms. Stevenson's adult family home license.

Ms. Stevenson contends this Court's review is appropriate because this case presents an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4). It does not. It is an ordinary professional disciplinary case in which the

Commission and the Court of Appeals applied well-settled law. The Court should decline Ms. Stevenson's petition.

# II. COUNTER-STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

If this Court were to grant review, the issues would be:

- 1. Is the Commission's determination that Ms. Stevenson practiced below the standard of care and outside the scope of her nursing credential supported by substantial evidence?
- 2. Is the Commission's conclusion that Ms. Stevenson committed unprofessional conduct by failing to either discuss her concerns about the prescription with a physician or administer the drug as prescribed consistent with the law and the Commission's Findings of Fact?
- 3. Is the resolution of a DSHS action against Ms. Stevenson's adult family home license irrelevant to the Commission's regulatory action against Ms. Stevenson's nursing license even though the same conduct forms the basis for both charges?

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. Factual Background<sup>1</sup>

For eight days, Ms. Stevenson failed to administer the blood thinner Enoxaparin which had been prescribed by a physician for an elderly patient in her adult family home. She believed that administering Enoxaparin would harm the patient. During the eight days, Ms. Stevenson failed to contact the prescribing physician and discuss her concerns, failed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeals recited a detailed, accurate version of the relevant facts. See Slip Opinion, attached to Petition For Discretionary Review at 2-6. This factual background summarizes the Court of Appeals' factual recitation.

to follow up with any other physician, and did not administer the prescribed medication as ordered. Ms. Stevenson finally administered the Enoxaparin after eight days, just hours before receiving a physician's order cancelling the prescription. Although the patient was unharmed, the Commission ultimately determined that Ms. Stevenson's conduct constituted negligence resulting in an unreasonable risk of harm to Ms. Stevenson's patient, that she practiced beyond the scope of her credential, and that she committed a willful failure to administer medication according to nursing standards of practice.

## B. Procedural Background

On December 6, 2007, DSHS issued a Statement of Deficiencies related to Ms. Stevenson's adult family home license and WAC 388-76-620. It required Ms. Stevenson to submit a plan of correction within 10 days, which she did. AR 213-19; Slip Opinion at 3. DSHS then issued formal notice of a civil fine. CP 35-37. Ms. Stevenson initially appealed the fine, but subsequently withdrew her request for a hearing, opting instead to pay the fine. AR 217-19.

On April 2, 2010, the Commission issued a Statement of Charges alleging Ms. Stevenson committed unprofessional conduct under the Uniform Disciplinary Act (UDA), RCW 18.130, related to her failure to

administer Enoxaparin. AR 1-14. Specifically, the Commission charged Ms. Stevenson with violating the following UDA provisions:

- RCW 18.130.180(4) which prohibits a nurse from committing "incompetence, negligence, or malpractice which results in injury to a patient or which creates an unreasonable risk that a patient may be harmed."
- RCW 18.130.180(12) which prohibits "practice beyond the scope of practice as defined by law or rule."
- RCW 18.130.180(7) which relates to the specific violation of practice rule WAC 246-840-710(2)(d) "willfully or repeatedly failing to administer medications and/or treatments in accordance with nursing standards."

#### AR 1-14.

Ms. Stevenson asked the Presiding Officer in this case to dismiss on the ground that the prior DSHS order legally precluded Commission action. AR 209. The Presiding Officer denied the motion, finding that neither collateral estoppel nor res judicata applied. AR 267.

The Commission conducted an adjudicative hearing (AR 299-544) after which it determined that Ms. Stevenson committed each of the charged violations.<sup>2</sup> AR 288-98. The Commission ordered Ms. Stevenson to be placed on 24 months probation, to complete 24 hours of continuing education, and to pay a fine of \$2,000. AR 288-97. Ms. Stevenson has completed each of the terms of her probation. CP 160-62.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The hearing was conducted and the order issued by a panel comprised of three Commission members, as authorized in RCW 18.130.050(18).

The superior court affirmed the Commission's decision. CP 168. Without oral argument, the Court of Appeals upheld the Commission's Final Order in an unpublished Opinion on May 27, 2015.

#### IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE GRANTED

Ms. Stevenson contends that she is entitled to review based on RAP 13.4(b)(4). Pet. at 6-7. She fails to identify any issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. The Court of Appeals properly determined that substantial evidence supported the Commission's findings that Ms. Stevenson practiced below the standard of care and beyond the scope of a registered nurse when she failed to follow up with a physician and thereby placed her patient at an unreasonable risk of harm. Following well-settled precedent, the Court of Appeals properly found that neither collateral estoppel nor res judicata barred the Commission from issuing a Statement of Charges against Ms. Stevenson's nursing license. Her Petition should be denied.

# A. The Commission's Findings That Ms. Stevenson Practiced Below The Standard Of Care And Outside The Scope Of Practice Are Supported By Substantial Evidence In The Record

Substantial evidence supports the Commission's finding of fact that Ms. Stevenson practiced below the standard of care and outside the appropriate scope of practice. The Commission panel members appropriately used their professional expertise in evaluating the evidentiary record and concluding that Ms. Stevenson's actions constituted professional misconduct. AR 288; 293. The Commission findings were properly upheld by the Court of Appeals.

Ms. Stevenson's primary argument is that the prosecutor did not present expert testimony on the standard of care. Pet. at 10. However, as this Court has already concluded, a Commission comprised of health professionals regulating a profession is entitled to rely on its members' own expertise to determine the standard of care. See Slip Opinion at 9 (citing Ames v. Washington State Health Dep't Med. Quality Health Assurance Comm'n, 166 Wn.2d 255, 261-62, 208 P.3d 549 (2009) (citing Med. Disciplinary Bd. v. Johnston, 99 Wn.2d 466, 482, 663 P.2d 457 (1983))).

In *Ames*, the Medical Quality Assurance Commission (MQAC) disciplined a physician for practicing below the standard of care and for use of an "inefficacious device." 166 Wn.2d at 257-58. In that case, Dr. Ames used a biofeedback device, claiming that he could detect and treat patient allergies using a computer program and a brass probe. 166 Wn.2d at 258-59. Although Dr. Ames argued that MQAC was required to present evidence related to the standard of care regarding his techniques or the efficacy of his device, this Court held that the law does not require that

expert testimony be provided to a medical disciplinary board; rather, such a board may "draw its own conclusions as to the acceptable standard of care." 166 Wn.2d at 261-62.

The question of the appropriate standard of care in this case is well within the Nursing Commission's expertise and "expert" testimony is unnecessary. The Commission appropriately utilized its own "experience, competency, and specialized knowledge to evaluate the evidence." AR 293.

Moreover, other substantial evidence in the record supports the Commission's findings. The physician who discharged Ms. Stevenson's patient from the hospital testified that she expected her orders to be followed, and when a nurse has a concern about one of her orders, she expects that they will contact her. AR 340. She also testified that nurses do not have the authority to alter prescriptions. AR 340. Ms. Stevenson's own expert witness testified that the nurse has a duty "to convey to the doctor that she is not fulfilling that order and she is not giving that medication because of these concerns." AR 379. Even Ms. Stevenson conceded that she cannot unilaterally withhold medication, acknowledging that she finally administered the Enoxaparin because "it was so many days, and I -- I do understand I have to follow the doctor's orders, so I

decided to administer these injections." AR 496-97. Significantly, the Court of Appeals noted that

Hu [the prescribing physician] testified that she expected Stevenson to implement her discharge orders, although she stated that Stevenson could question that order by speaking with her. Hu also testified that Stevenson, as a registered nurse, lacked the authority to alter the prescriptions that were part of the discharge orders, which Stevenson did by failing to give the enoxaparin. One of Stevenson's own experts testified that any nurse who refused to fulfill a physician order based on concerns about the order had a duty "to convey to the doctor that she is not fulfilling that order and she is not giving that medication because of these concerns." AR at 379. A reasonable inference from this testimony is that nurses have a duty to follow the orders given by a doctor unless they raise concerns about the order with the doctor. Stevenson refused to follow Hu's orders and failed to contact Hu or a covering physician to explain why she was declining to do so. The Commission could readily find that Stevenson failed to comply with nursing standards from those facts.

#### Slip Opinion at 8.

Ms. Stevenson contends that, because she believed the prescription of Enoxaparin was contraindicated for her Patient, the fundamental standard of care requirement that nurses comply with a physician's order is somehow altered. *See, e.g.*, Pet. at 6, 9. Her contention lacks merit. Determining the appropriateness of the prescription speaks to the standard of care of the physician<sup>3</sup>, not the registered nurse. The standard of care

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Other healthcare providers with appropriate training, such as an Advanced Registered Nurse Practitioner (ARNP), also may prescribe medication in the state of Washington. RCW 18.79.250. However, Ms. Stevenson is not licensed as an ARNP.

relevant to the practice of nursing requires that when a nurse has a concern about a prescribed medication, the nurse must speak with the prescribing physician to consult and address the concern. AR 340-41. To purposefully withhold a medication that has been prescribed, as Ms. Stevenson did for eight days, is to effectively alter a physician's prescription.

The public appropriately expects nurses to exercise good judgment and discretion. Nurses should not unquestioningly carry out physicians' orders that contain obvious errors or that will harm a patient because the physician had incomplete information when issuing the order. However, the problem here is not whether Ms. Stevenson had a legitimate concern for the welfare of her patient, but rather, that she did not take the proper action to contact the prescribing physician, the patient's primary care physician, or any of the patient's other physicians, to address and resolve her concern. Both the Superior Court and Court of Appeals correctly applied existing law in determining that the Commission's findings were supported by substantial evidence. Ms. Stevenson fails to show that the Court of Appeals' routine resolution of this issue is of substantial public interest that warrants this Court's review.

# B. The Commission Did Not Commit Legal Error When It Concluded That Ms. Stevenson Had Violated The UDA

The Commission concluded that Ms. Stevenson: 1) acted negligently, thus creating an unreasonable risk of harm; 2) acted outside her scope of practice; and 3) willfully failed to administer medication or treatment. AR 4. When findings of fact are supported by substantial evidence, as they are here, the courts next turn to "whether the findings in turn support the conclusions of law and judgment." *Nguyen v. State, Dep't of Health Med. Quality Assurance Comm'n*, 144 Wn.2d 516, 530, 29 P.3d 689 (2001), *cert. denied*, 535 U.S. 904 (2002). The Commission's findings of fact support its conclusion that Ms. Stevenson violated the UDA.

The conclusion that Ms. Stevenson acted negligently was directly supported by the Commission's findings that Ms. Stevenson did not follow the accepted standard of care, failed to follow up with a physician about the prescription and its impact on her patient, and thereby placed her patient at an unreasonable risk of harm. AR 290-93. Similarly, the Commission found that "the scope of practice of a registered nurse does not include the authority to unilaterally fail to follow physician orders." AR 292. This finding directly supports the Commission's conclusion that Ms. Stevenson acted outside the appropriate scope of her practice when

she withheld medication, effectively altering her patient's prescription. AR 293. Finally, the Commission properly concluded that Ms. Stevenson willfully failed to administer medications in accordance with nursing standards under WAC 246-840-710(2)(d). AR 293-94. This conclusion is supported by the finding that Ms. Stevenson practiced below the standard of care when she repeatedly failed to follow up with a physician over an eight-day period.

The Court of Appeals followed this Court's precedent when it determined that the Commission's legal conclusions were supported by its findings of fact. *See* Slip Opinion at 11-13. Ms. Stevenson's challenge on this issue does not present an issue of substantial public interest that should be reviewed by this Court.

## C. The Commission Panel Was Appropriately Constituted

Without identifying error in her petition or in the Court of Appeals, Ms. Stevenson argues that the Commission panel that adjudicated her case was not qualified to do so. Pet. at 7. However, Ms. Stevenson fails to explain either how the makeup of the panel was contrary to law, or, deprived the panel of the expertise necessary to adjudicate her case.

As the Court of Appeals correctly explained, RCW 18.79.070(2) defines which professionals are to serve on the Commission, but does not require adjudicative panels to be made up of a particular number of

professionals from each credential. See Slip Opinion at 9-10, n. 4. As the Court of Appeals further noted, this Court recognized in Ames that "medical discipline Boards like the Commission do not need expert testimony about any possible breach of the standard of care, because such testimony is not helpful when the fact finder, as here, includes experts." See Slip Opinion at 9; see also Ames, 166 Wn.2d at 261-62.

Moreover, Ms. Stevenson fails to argue, much less demonstrate, that the panel was not qualified to make the determinations applied to the facts of her case. The Commission panel was appropriately constituted of one registered nurse and two licensed practical nurses. Both registered nurses and licensed practical nurses have expertise with respect to the issues in Ms. Stevenson's case. The specific practice violation charged, WAC 246-840-710(2)(d), applies to both licensed practical nurses and registered nurses. Additionally, the requirement that nurses adequately communicate with the health care team applies to both credentials. WAC 246-840-700(3)(a).

Ms. Stevenson's argument that the hearing panel was without sufficient expertise is improperly raised and without merit. It does not raise an issue of substantial public interest warranting this Court's review.

# D. The Commission's Action Was Not Precluded By Res Judicata Or Collateral Estoppel

The Commission's action here specifically targeted Ms. Stevenson's nursing license; it is not related to her license to operate an adult family home. Therefore, it is not precluded or barred by the prior DSHS action based on any of the theories advanced by Ms. Stevenson. The DSHS case was not adjudicated on the merits, and it involved different interests, different parties, and different causes of action. The Court of Appeals properly held that the prior DSHS action did not preclude the Commission's action against Ms. Stevenson's nursing license. *See* Slip Opinion at 13-16.

For res judicata, "a prior final judgment must have a concurrence of identity with that claim in (1) subject matter, (2) cause of action, (3) persons and parties, and (4) quality of the persons for or against whom the claim is made." *Richert v. Tacoma Power Util.*, 179 Wn. App. 694, 704, 319 P.3d 882 (2014). Similarly, collateral estoppel requires "(1) identical issues; (2) a final judgment on the merits; (3) the party against whom the plea is asserted must have been a party to or in privity with a party to the prior adjudication; and (4) application of the doctrine must not work an injustice on the party against whom the doctrine is to be applied."

Reninger v. State Dep't of Corr., 134 Wn.2d 437, 449, 951 P.2d 782 (1998).

Both doctrines require a final judgment on the merits and concurrence of identity between issues/cause of action and parties. Ms. Stevenson cannot demonstrate any of the above requirements. As a threshold matter, the DSHS case was settled short of a hearing on the merits. It ended when Ms. Stevenson withdrew her request for a hearing and paid the civil penalty. AR 217-19. On this basis alone, Ms. Stevenson's preclusion arguments fail.

Moreover, the issues that were adjudicated in the two cases were entirely different. Although Ms. Stevenson's misconduct was the impetus for both the DSHS and Commission actions, the legal and factual issues in each action were distinct. The Commission's action involved her nursing license and was intended to determine (1) whether Ms. Stevenson exceeded the scope of her license to practice nursing and (2) whether such conduct is a breach of the relevant standard of care. AR 1. The DSHS action, in contrast, was aimed at whether Ms. Stevenson's actions breached the standards of conduct applicable to an adult family home owner and RCW 70.128. The resolution of the DSHS case had no effect on Ms. Stevenson's nursing license because DSHS has no authority or jurisdiction to take such action. Although DSHS could revoke an adult

family home license, DSHS possesses no legal authority to prevent Ms. Stevenson from practicing nursing in another setting, such as a hospital. Put simply, the two actions and their underlying issues are sufficiently different to render the preclusion doctrine inapplicable.

Finally, the Court of Appeals correctly noted that Ms. Stevenson's arguments fail for a lack of concurrence of identity between the parties. See Slip Opinion at 14. The Court pointed out that Ms. Stevenson was not a party to the DSHS case. Rather, her company, Stevenson Group, Inc. was the subject of the complaint and payment for the agreed-to DSHS fine was paid from the corporation's account. See Slip Opinion at 3, 14. Because Ms. Stevenson cannot demonstrate concurrence of identity of parties and issues, and cannot demonstrate a final judgment on the merits, her contention that preclusion barred the Commission's action fails.

#### V. CONCLUSION

Ms. Stevenson committed professional misconduct when she failed to administer a prescription to her Patient for eight days without contacting the prescribing physician or any other physician. She fails to demonstrate any error in the Commission's Order or the Court of Appeals decision affirming that Order, and she has identified no issue of substantial

public interest that warrants this Court's review. Her Petition For Discretionary Review should be denied.